
 

 

 
 

 

 

GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA PACKAGE 

 

Tuesday, August 15, 2017 



 
 

GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
TUESDAY – AUGUST 15, 2017 - 1:00 P.M. 

 

 
 

Trustees: Ernest Carrera - Chairman;  Stephen Hill – Vice Chairman;  Alan Weiner - Trustee;  
Derwin Bright - Trustee;  Karl Craig - Trustee;  Steve Kenny - Trustee;  Sonya Little - 
Trustee 

 

Supporting Staff: Natasha Wiederholt, Pension Plan Supervisor and Recording Secretary;  Justin 
Vaske - Assistant City Attorney and Board Attorney;  Terrie Williams - Accounting 
Operations Manager;  Rosie Rivera – Accountant; Carleigh Blesing – Office Support 
Specialist III 

 

Consultants:  Jason Pulos and Nathan Burk- Asset Consulting Group (ACG);  Stephen Lambert 
Oswald and Bruce Crosswhite – AON Hewitt 

 
Location and Time: Fire & Police Pension Fund, 3001 N. Boulevard, Board Meeting Room, Tampa, 

Florida 33603, August 15, 2017, 1:00 p.m. 
 

Any person who decides to appeal any decision of the Board of Trustees with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will 
need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose, may need to hire a court reporter to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.  In accordance with 
the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special accommodations 
to participate in this meeting should contact the General Employees’ Retirement Fund at least 48 hours prior to the date of the 
meeting. 

 

Page Numbers 
I. Roll Call 

 
II. Public Comments -  Ten (10) Minutes Total – Three (3) Minutes per Speaker 

 
III. Approval of Minutes 

 Minutes for Regular Board Meeting on July 18, 2017 (Motion) ................................................ 4 - 8 
 

IV. Disability Retirement Hearing 
Job Yulee – (Motion) ................................................................................................... Handout 
 

V. U.S. Large Cap Equity Manager Presentations .................................................................. Handouts 
 
a) Dodge & Cox  

Hallie Marshall, Vice President, Client Portfolio Manager 
 

b) Ivy Investments 
Brad Klapmeyer, VP, Large Cap Growth Portfolio Manager 
Lynne Goodwin, VP, Institutional Relationship Management 

 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 1 of 62



GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
TUESDAY – AUGUST 15, 2017  

 

 
 

  
Page Numbers 

 
VI. Investment Guidelines Discussion & Review of Special Act (Motion) ................................... 9 - 31 

Jim Culbreth and Jessica West – Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP 
 

VII. Actuarial Rate of Return Discussion ................................................................................... Handout 
Stephen Lambert-Oswald – AON Hewitt 
 

VIII. Staff Report 
1) Portfolio Performance Review – Q2 2017 – Jason Pulos, ACG ..................................... Handout 
2) Portfolio Performance Review – July 2017 – Jason Pulos, ACG ....................................... 32 - 36 
3) August 2017 Liquidity Needs (Motion) ............................................................................ 37 - 38 
4) Guideline Breach – Fisher Investments (Motion) ............................................................ 39 - 40 
5) Semi-Annual Trading Evaluation Analysis & Review of Brokerage Transactions and  
       Associated Costs ........................................................................................................... Handouts 
6) Disability Re-Examination Audit .................................................................................... Handout 

 
IX. Consent Agenda (Motion) 

 
Retirement Benefits & Estate Payments:  
Longevity Retirements, DROP Applications, DROP to Longevity, Deferred Retirements, 
Deferred to Longevity, Survivor Benefits, Estate Payments……….. ............................................... 41 

 

Auto-Deducted: 
 

1) Brandywine - #20170630-482-4233-A – Q2 2017 - $68,895.43.............................................. 42 
2) Marathon-London International Group – July 2017 - $22,539.00 .......................................... 43 
3) UBS – Q2 2017 - $94,040.41 .................................................................................................... 44 
 
Quarterly Invoices: 
1) Aberdeen - #81091 – Q2 2017 - $87,975.34 ........................................................................... 45 
2) CBRE Clarion - #20170622-146-137-A – Q2 2017 - $29,068.63 .............................................. 46 
3) Clarivest - #128096 – Q2 2017 - $38,687.32 ........................................................................... 47 
4) Dodge & Cox - #40789 – Q2 2017 - $73,010.80 ...................................................................... 48 
5) Fisher Investments - #JJ4255-0001 – Q2 2017 - $120,911.55................................................. 49 
6) SSGA - #SSGABA2529202 – Q2 2017 - $8,774.97 ................................................................... 50 
7) Taplin, Canida & Habacht – Q2 2017 - $35,769.81 ................................................................. 51 
8) Waddell & Reed - #305015 – Q2 2017 - $98,954.33 ............................................................... 52 
9) Wellington Management - #20170630-96246-A – Q2 2017 - $65,783.62 .............................. 53 

 
Miscellaneous Invoices: 

 
1) Division of Administrative Hearings - #004483A - $1,438.15 ................................................. 54 
2) Ford & Harrison - #696986 - $617.00 ...................................................................................... 55 
3) Ford & Harrison - #696987 - $3,221.75 ................................................................................... 56 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 2 of 62



GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES  

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
TUESDAY – AUGUST 15, 2017  

 

 
 

Page Numbers 
 
4) Ford & Harrison - #696988 - $280.87 ...................................................................................... 57 
5) Ford & Harrison - #696989 - $6,298.52 ................................................................................... 58 
6) Ford & Harrison - #696990 - $375.00 ...................................................................................... 59 
7) Ford & Harrison - #696991 - $72.00 ........................................................................................ 60 
8) Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP - #000641471 - $2,607.50 .................................................. 61 
9) Travel Reimbursement – 2017 Public Funds Summit East (Carrera) - $127.51 ...................... 62 
 
 

X. Adjournment 
 

Upcoming Meeting Schedule 
 

Friday, August 25, 2017 – 2:00 p.m. – Joint Workshop – Pension Administration System Project 
Hilton Tampa Downtown, 211 N. Tampa Street, Tampa, FL 

 
Tuesday, September 19, 2017 – 1:00 p.m. – Regular Board Meeting 

Fire & Police Pension Fund, 3001 N. Boulevard, Board Meeting Room, Tampa, FL  
 

Upcoming Topics for Regular September Board Meeting 
 

International Equity Manager Presentations 
Forfeiture Hearings 

Monthly Investment Performance Report 
Liquidity Needs 

Biannual Pension Verification Questionnaire Audit 
DROP Rates of Return 

GE Board Election Results 
 
 

Upcoming Retirement Conference 
 

FPPTA Fall Trustees School 
October 8 – 11, 2017 

Tampa Marriott Waterside Hotel & Marina, Tampa, FL 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 3 of 62



   
 

GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES - REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

TUESDAY – JULY 18, 2017 - 1:00 P.M. 
 

 
 

The Board of Trustees for the General Employees’ Retirement Fund convened in a regular session at 1:00 
p.m. on this 18th day of July, 2017 at the Fire & Police Pension Fund, 3001 N. Boulevard, Board Meeting  
Room, Tampa, Florida 33603.   
 

Support Staff:  Natasha Wiederholt, Pension Plan Supervisor and Recording Secretary; Justin Vaske, 
Assistant City Attorney and Board Attorney; Terrie Williams, Accounting Operations Manager; Rosie 
Rivera – Accountant; and Carleigh Blesing, Office Support Specialist III. 
 

Consultants to Board: Jason Pulos and Nathan Burk - Asset Consulting Group (ACG); Stephen Lambert 
Oswald and Bruce Crosswhite – AON Hewitt 
 

I. ROLL CALL 

 
Mr. Carrera, Chairman, presiding, brought the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.   
 

Board Members Present Included:  Ernest Carrera, Chairman;  Stephen Hill, Vice Chairman;  Derwin 
Bright, Trustee;  Karl Craig, Trustee;  Steve Kenny, Trustee; Sonya Little. 
 
Ms. Wiederholt advised the Board she received prior notification that Trustee Alan Weiner would not be 
in attendance. 
 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS- Ten (10) Minutes Total – Three (3) Minutes per Speaker 

 
None. 
 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
Ms. Wiederholt requested the Board approve the minutes from the June 20th, 2017 meeting.     
 

MOTION:  (Hill/Bright)  Motion was made by Stephen Hill to approve the minutes from the June 20th, 
2017 Board meeting.  Motion was seconded Derwin Bright.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 

IV. Investment Policy Discussion 

 
As a follow-up to previous meeting determinations, Mr. Jim Culbreth of Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick 
provided significant insight regarding same. Mr. Culbreth noted that as this is a statutory plan, any 
amendments to the Special Act must be legislated.  It is believed that if the verbiage is adjusted to be 
comparable to the State of Florida’s investment policy statement, it should be fairly easy to usher 
through in the next State Legislative session come January 2018.  Mr. Culbreth noted it was critical that 
there are appropriate champions to sponsor the amendment so as to ensure the current political climate 
is considered.  
 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 4 of 62



GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES - REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

TUESDAY – JULY 18, 2017 - 1:00 P.M. 
 

 

 

A discussion ensued regarding the best course of action to take prior to submitting these changes to an 
administrative and State Legislative level. Ms. Little stressed the importance of bringing up something 
deliberate and comprehensive that encompasses all the changes that the Board would like to see, both to 
verbiage, flexibility in use for several upcoming years, and minor changes such as typos. Conversation 
ensued regarding the time allowances that are available based on the broad scope or review and 
consideration being requested and the legislative calendar, noting that this would need to be turn-key 
ready by the end of August.   
 
MOTION:  (Little/Kenny)  Motion was made by Sonya Little to request Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick to 
recommend verbiage that will enhance the investment language in the Special Act and provide a 
comprehensive view of cleaning up any inconsistencies, in conjunction with the City Attorney’s Office 
on a time table that is consistent with the next legislative session and timely to the August Board 
meeting.  Motion was seconded Steve Kenny.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 

V. Staff Report 

 
1) Portfolio Performance Review – June 2017 – Jason Pulos, ACG 
 
ACG reviewed the monthly report for the period ending 6/30/17. 
 
The one year return of the Total Fund as of 6/30/17 was 15.18%, which was 2.85% above the return of 
the Policy Index. Contributions to relative outperformance came from both equity and fixed income for 
the one year period. The Large Cap U.S Equity composite was up 24.75% for the year, while Small Cap 
U.S. Equity was up 25.75% and Non-US Equity was up 22.59% for the one year ending 6/30/17. As of June 
30, 2017 the total fund value was at $695.2. Through June 30, 2017 the fund is up 9.83% on a fiscal year 
to date basis which is 1.78% above the Policy Index for the same period.  Over the five year period ending 
June 30, 2017 the Fund is up 9.63% annualized compared to the policy index of 8.97%.  
 
2) July 2017 Liquidity Needs  
 
A discussion ensued regarding liquidity needs for the month of July. Ms. Wiederholt advised the Board 
that $2.9M was needed in order to fund benefit payments for the month.  ACG recommended the 
liquidation of $2.9 million from the Wellington small cap fund, to provide for the operating liquidity 
needs for the month as the small cap allocation was overweight and Wellington specifically was the most 
overweight to the Board’s policy targets. 
 
MOTION:  (Hill/Kenny)  Motion was made by Steve Hill to approve the liquidation of $2.9M from 
Wellington to fund the benefit payments for the month of July.  Motion was seconded Steve Kenny.  
MOTION CARRIED. 
 
3) Fee Analysis of Investment Management Accounts  
 
ACG presented a fee review of the Plans overall investment related expenses. The analysis showed that 
overall plan investment expenses have steadily declined over the last several years from 51.9 basis points 
to 47 basis points for overall investment management fees.    As of May 2017, the weighted average 
investment management fee for the total pension portfolio is approximately 47 basis points, or 0.47%. 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 5 of 62



GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES - REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

TUESDAY – JULY 18, 2017 - 1:00 P.M. 
 

 

 

Nine of the fund managers are within the least expensive quartile of their eVestment peer group. This 
means that their fees are less than or equal to 75% of the managers within a comparable investment 
strategy, vehicle and market value. Two fund managers are between the 25th percentile and the 50th 
percentile in their eVestment peer group.  Two fund managers are between the 50th percentile and the 
75th percentile in their eVestment peer group.   
 
Fees paid to Northern Trust for custody services are 2.0 bps annually. This compares favorably to the 
mean fee paid of 4.2 bps to custodians of public funds with assets between $501 million and $1 billion 
based on the 2015 Greenwich Associates U.S. Institutional Investor Survey.  Fees paid to Asset Consulting 
Group are $125,000 annually. This is a 21% discount to the mean fee paid of $157,000 to investment 
consultants of public funds with assets between $501 million and $1 billion based on the 2015 Greenwich 
Associates U.S. Institutional Investor Survey. 
 
4) Semi-Annual Trading Evaluation Analysis & Review of Brokerage Transactions and 
Associated Costs  

Ms. Wiederholt brought to the Board’s attention that the Board Trading and Brokerage policies indicate 
that the Board will evaluate transaction activity on at least an annual basis through an Independent 
Transaction Cost Analysis .  Each manger’s trading effectiveness will be monitored relative to both market 
impact and commission costs.  Ms. Wiederholt put the question to the Board – should an external firm be 
hired to produce an annual Independent Transaction Costs Analysis?  Ms. Wiederholt indicated that she 
obtained a quote and sample reports for the Board’s review.  The estimated cost for these services is 
$18,000 - $20,000.   

Ms. Wiederholt went on to explain that the policies further indicate that each manager is to submit to 
the Board on November 15 and May 15 of each year a written report with respect to brokerage 
transactions and associated costs.  The report should include an accounting of research services obtained 
in consideration of broker activity, along with a brief description of efforts used to comply with each of 
the policies and guidelines of the Board.    In review of the investment manager contracts, most accounts 
do not have this language. Ms. Wiederholt put the question to the Board – should policies be updated to 
be in alignment with the language in the investment manager contracts?   

A conversation ensued regarding what would be most practical and efficient in order to find resolution. 

MOTION:  (Hill/Craig)  Motion was made by Steven Hill to see if the investment managers are able to 
provide independent transaction cost analyses and to provide reports of brokerage transactions and 
associated costs.  Motion was seconded Karl Craig.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 

 VI. Consent Agenda 

 
Ms. Wiederholt advised that the Consent Agenda has been reviewed and the items listed are true, 
correct, and have been found to be accurate.  Justin Vaske has also reviewed all the legal invoices.   
 
Retirement Benefits & Estate Payments: 
Longevity Retirements, DROP Applications, DROP to Longevity, Deferred Retirements, 
Deferred to Longevity, Survivor Benefits, Estate Payments 
 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 6 of 62



GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES - REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

TUESDAY – JULY 18, 2017 - 1:00 P.M. 
 

 

 

Auto-Deducted: 
1) Long Wharf Capital – FREG III, L.P. – Q2 2017 - $1,308.54  
2) Marathon-London Int’l. Fund – June 2017 - $21,991.00  
 
Quarterly Invoices: 
1) Asset Consulting Group - #7929 – Q2 2017 - $31,250.00  
2) LMCG Investments – Q2 2017 - $36,086.83 
3) Northern Trust Company - #01606816 – Q2 2017 - $35,023.02  
 
Miscellaneous Invoices: 
1) Alexander Investigative Services, Inc. - #COT201711 – (Alvarez) - $30.50  
2) Alexander Investigative Services, Inc. - #COT201713 – (Washington) - $77.00  
3) Alexander Investigative Services, Inc. - #COT201712 – (Woods) - $63.00  
4) Ciox Health - #0217693084 – (Bryant) - $11.13  
5) Ford & Harrison - #694892 - $575.00  
6) Ford & Harrison - #694893 - $34.38  
7) Ford & Harrison - #694894 - $380.00  
8) Ford & Harrison - #694895 - $75.00  
9) Ford & Harrison - #694896 - $1,637.00  
10) N.C. Vital Records – (White) - $39.00  
11) Saxon Gilmore & Carraway, P.A. - #54187-B - $122.50  
12) Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP - #000636858 - $1,645.00  
13) Tampa Occupational Health – (Pugh) - $500.00  
14) Tampa Occupational Health – (Yulee) - $500.00  
15) Travel Reimbursement – 2017 FPPTA Conference (Bright) - $86.49  
16) Travel Reimbursement – 2017 FPPTA Conference (Carrera) - $105.86  
17) Travel Reimbursement – 2017 FPPTA Conference (Craig) - $81.56  
18) Travel Reimbursement – 2017 FPPTA Conference (Hill) - $69.56  
19) Travel Reimbursement – 2017 FPPTA Conference (Vaske) - $676.86  
20) Travel Reimbursement – 2017 FPPTA Conference (Wiederholt) - $103.82  

 

MOTION:  (Little/Kenny)  Motion was made by Sonya Little to approve the Consent Agenda.  Motion 
was seconded Steve Kenny.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
Prior to adjournment, Ms. Wiederholt updated the Board regarding the 2017 Board Trustee election, 
noting that no petitions for candidacy had yet been received prior to the July 28th deadline.  
 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business, Chairman Ernest Carrera adjourned the meeting at 2:26p.m. and advised 
the Board that the next meeting would be held on August 15th, 2017 at the Fire & Police Pension Fund, 
3001 N. Boulevard, Tampa, FL, Board Meeting Room.   
 
 
 
 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 7 of 62



GENERAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT FUND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES - REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

TUESDAY – JULY 18, 2017 - 1:00 P.M. 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
BOARD CHAIRMAN – Ernest P. Carrera 
 

 
 
  

GE PENSION PLAN SUPERVISOR – Natasha Wiederholt  
& RECORDING SECRETARY 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 8 of 62



 

 

Retirement Plan 

For 

City of Tampa 

General Employees 

 

Revised & Published  

October 1, 2013 

  

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 9 of 62



2 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

Title           Page 

General Information About Your Plan  ...................................................................................... 3 
Section 1. Declaration on Policy ................................................................................................ 4 
Section 2. Creation ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Section 3. Division of the Retirement Fund ............................................................................... 4 
Section 4. Definitions ................................................................................................................. 4-7 
Section 5. Contributions............................................................................................................. 7 
Section 6. Administration........................................................................................................... 7-8 
Section 7. Division Election ........................................................................................................ 9 
Section 8. Longevity Retirement Benefits .................................................................................. 9 
Section 9. Deferred Pension ...................................................................................................... 10 
Section 10. Early Retirement ..................................................................................................... 10 
Section 11. Disability Retirement ............................................................................................... 10 
Section 12. Death Benefits ......................................................................................................... 10-12 
Section 13. Cost of Living Adjustment ....................................................................................... 12 
Section 14. Refund of Contributions .......................................................................................... 12 
Section 15. Reemployment After Termination .......................................................................... 13 
Section 16. Reemployment of Retired Employees .................................................................... 13 
Section 17. Officers .................................................................................................................... 14 
Section 18. Physical Examination ............................................................................................... 14 
Section 19. Construction ............................................................................................................ 14 
Section 20. Exemptions .............................................................................................................. 14 
Section 21. Pension Benefits; Certain Firefighters and Police Officers ..................................... 15 
Section 22. Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) ....................................................... 15-18 
Section 23. Sole Purpose ............................................................................................................ 18 
Section 24. Limitations on Amounts of Benefits ........................................................................ 18-19 
Section 25. Latest Date of Commencement of Benefits ............................................................ 19 
Section 26. Direct Rollovers ....................................................................................................... 19-20 
 
The Acts amending Chapter 23559, Laws of Florida of 1945 .................................................... 21 
 
 
  

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 10 of 62



3 
 

Dear Retirement Plan Members:  

The Retirement Plan (the “Plan”) for City of Tampa General Employees’ Retirement Fund is printed in its 

entirety starting on page 3. It is a Special Act (the “Act”) of the Florida State Legislature -- specifically 

Chapter 23559, Special Act of 1945, as amended. 

The Plan has two Divisions; Division A and Division B. Division A consists of those Employees hired prior 

to October 1, 1981. Division B consists of those Employees hired on or after October 1, 1981, and former 

Division A Employees who elected Division B. 

The chart on this page is only intended to give you a broad overview of the Retirement Plan. It does not 

address all of the Plan’s provisions; therefore, if you have a specific question relating to yourself, you 

should read the Plan in detail. 

Topic Division A  
(Hired prior to October 1, 1981) 

Division B 
(Hired on or after October 1, 1981 going 
forward) 

Vesting Period 6 years minimum 6 years minimum  
 

Normal Retirement Age 55 Years Minimum 62 Years Minimum 

Employee Contributions  7% of salary pretax to Retirement 
Fund, no contribution to Social 
Security 

Percentage set by Social Security, no 
City contribution. 

City Contributions Percentage needed to maintain 
adequate funding for benefits 

Percentage needed to maintain 
adequate funding for benefits, plus % of 
salary to Social Security. 

Monthly Pension Calculation .02 x average monthly salary over the 
highest 3 of the last 6 years of Service 
x years of Service plus .005 x average 
monthly salary over the highest 3 of 
the last 6 years of Service x years of 
Service over 15 years. 

.012 x average monthly salary over the 
highest 3 of the last 6 years of Service x 
years of Service for City pension; 
contact the Social Security Office on 
Social Security’s benefits.  

Deferred Retirement  Retirement at an age younger than 55 
with 6 or more years of service and a 
monthly pension starting at age 55. 

Retirement at an age younger than 62 
with 6 or more years of service and a 
monthly pension starting at age 62. 

Deferred Retirement Option 
Program (DROP) Benefits 

DROP accumulations for a maximum 
of 7 years provided requirements for 
longevity retirement have been met. 

DROP accumulations for a maximum of 
7 years provided requirements for 
longevity retirement, or early 
retirement, have been met. 

Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) 2.2%  every January 1
st

 1.2% every January 1st 

Disability Retirement Retirement at an age younger than 
55; participant’s monthly pension 
checks start immediately  regardless 
of his or her age; has to be based on a 
total and permanent disablement. 

Retirement at an age younger than 62; 
participant’s monthly pension checks 
start immediately regardless of his or 
her age; has to be based on a total and 
permanent disablement. 

Death Benefits Spouse receives 75% (50% if 
remarries), plus children under 18 get 
$100 per month  

Spouse receives 50% per month. No 
decrease for remarriage. Contact Social 
Security Office for Social Security 
benefits. 

 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 11 of 62



4 
 

Be it Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

Chapter 23559, Special Act of 1945, as amended, reads: 

Section 1.  Declaration on Policy. 
It is expressed intent of the Legislature to divide the pension system for general employees of the City of 
Tampa into two Divisions in order to maintain the existing Plan for present Employees of the City and to 
create a new plan of benefits for future Employees, combining the benefits of the new Plan with Social 
Security benefits.    
 
Section 2.  Creation. 
A pension fund is hereby created for all Employees of the City of Tampa, Florida, who are not now 
members of any other pension fund for Employees of the City of Tampa, Florida, heretofore created by 
the Legislature of the State of Florida and shall be known as the City of Tampa, General Employees’ 
Retirement Fund.  
 
Section 3.  Division of the Retirement Fund. 
The retirement fund for the general employees of the City of Tampa shall be deemed to be divided into 
two divisions to be designated Division A and Division B. 
 (A) Division A of the system shall include all those members of the General Employees’ 
Retirement Plan created by Chapter 23559, Laws of Florida, 1945, as amended, who were employed 
prior to October 1, 1981, and who did not elect pursuant to the provisions of Section 7 to become 
members of Division B.  
 (B)  Division B of this system shall include all general employees of the City of Tampa employed 
on or after October 1, 1981, all employees of Division A who elected pursuant to Section 7 to become 
members of Division B, and elective officers, department heads, and appointive officers, working with 
the City prior to October 1, 1981, who elect pursuant to the provisions of Section 17 to become 
members of Division B.  
 
Section 4.  Definitions. 
 (A) Salaries or Wages.  Salaries or Wages for the purpose of this Act shall be the base amounts 
earned by the Employee, plus regular longevity bonuses, overtime, and shift premiums. Salary or Wages 
shall also include elective amounts that are excludible from the Employee’s gross income under Sections 
125 (including amounts that are not available to the Employee in cash in lieu of group health coverage 
because the Employee is unable to certify that he or she has other health coverage, but only if the 
Employer does not request or collect information regarding the Employee’s other health coverage as 
part of the enrollment for the health plan); 403(b) tax-sheltered annuity); 457 (Section 457 Plan); and 
132(f)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations thereunder (the 
“Code”). Salaries or Wages shall exclude other premiums, other than shift premiums, allowances, special 
payments, or any casual nonrecurring or unpredictable bonuses; payments for unused accrued bona 
fide sick, vacation, or other leave; payments received by an Employee pursuant to a nonqualified 
unfunded deferred salary or wages plan; and severance pay that is paid after an Employee severs 
employment with the City. However, Salaries or Wages, as defined herein, earned but not paid to the 
Employee by the Employee’s severance date with the City shall be considered Salary or Wages for Plan 
purposes. In addition to other applicable limitations set forth in the Plan, and notwithstanding any other 
provision of the Plan to the contrary, for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1996, the annual 
Salaries or Wages of each Employee taken into account under the Plan shall not exceed the annual 
compensation limit provided for in Section 401(a)(17) of the Code as adjusted by the Commissioner of 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 12 of 62



5 
 

the Internal Revenue Service for increases in the cost-of-living in accordance with Section 401(a)(17)(B) 
of the Code.  The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to any period, not 
exceeding 12 months, over which Salaries or Wages are determined (determination period) beginning in 
such calendar year. If a determination period consists of fewer than 12 months, the Annual 
Compensation Limit will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in 
the determination period, and the denominator of which is 12.  The limitation on Salaries or Wages for 
an “eligible Employee” shall not be less than the amount which was allowed to be taken into account 
hereunder as in effect on July 1, 1993. “Eligible Employee” is an individual who was a participant in the 
Plan before the first Plan Year beginning after December 31, 1995. 
 (B) Plan.  The Retirement Plan for all General Employees of the City of Tampa described in the 
Act. The Plan shall include Employees in Division A and Division B. The Plan shall include the payment of 
benefits for general employees who have heretofore retired or who retire under any City pension Plan 
existing prior to the effective date of this Act. 
 (C) Fund.  Moneys derived from Employee contributions and Employer contributions, both prior 
to and after the effective date of this Act, investment earnings and other contributions from whatever 
source derived.  
 (D) Employer.  For the purposes of this Act, “Employer” and “City” may be used interchangeably. 
 (E) Employee. For the purposes of this Act, “Employee” shall mean an active Employee covered, 
or qualified to be covered, under either Division A or Division B of this Plan. An Employee covered by this 
Plan shall include all active Employees, whether full-time, part-time, or temporary, who have taken the 
physical examination required by Section 18. Employees whose Salaries or Wages are paid pursuant to a 
federal grant-in-aid program are included in this Act only when the federal government pays the 
employer’s contribution. Any individual who is an independent contractor, or who performs services for 
the City under an agreement that identifies the individual as an independent contractor, is excluded 
from the Plan even if a governmental agency retroactively reclassifies such individual as an Employee. 
Casual laborers are excluded from this definition, as are Employees covered by other City pension Plans.   
For purposes of this section (E), the term active employee will also include those individuals who are on 
military leave, vacation or sick leave or on an approved leave of absence but who have not terminated 
employment with the City.  
 (F) Temporary Employee. An employee whose period of employment is not contemplated to 
extend beyond 180 days from the date of employment. Temporary Employees will only be considered 
part of this pension Plan if their employment extends beyond the 180 day period, and they are required 
to take a physical examination pursuant to Section 18 of this Act.  
 (G) Continuous Service.  The term “Continuous Service” or service continuously or continuous  
shall mean unbroken service by an Employee immediately preceding the date of application for 
retirement, except for temporary interruptions of service caused by military service, illness, or 
involuntary severance from service through no fault of the Employee, and provided he or she is 
reinstated. Time spent upon an authorized leave of absence by a member of a recognized bargaining 
unit for union business which is participated in by the recognized bargaining unit for General City 
Employees or time spent on any leave of absence shall not constitute a break in Service and the time so 
spent shall be deemed to be continuous service. However, time spent upon an authorized leave of 
absence by a member of a recognized bargaining unit for union business shall not be creditable unless 
the individual, if in Division A, pays into the pension fund on a biweekly basis an amount equal to the 
aggregate contributions such Employee would have made and such amounts the City would have paid 
into the Fund based on the salary such Employee would have earned had he or she not been on an 
authorized union leave of absence. For the purposed of this Act, the terms “Service” and “Continuous 
Service” shall have the same meaning and shall be used interchangeably.  

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 13 of 62



6 
 

 (H) Military Service Time. For members rehired after leave to provide military service prior to 
December 12, 1994, in computing Service allowance for retirement, creditable Service shall, at the 
option of the Employee, include any Service which interrupted employment with the Employer, not to 
exceed a period of 3 years, in any of the armed Services of the United States  during time of war, upon 
condition that within 90 days from the date of reinstatement of such Employee now or hereafter serving 
in the armed forces, or within 90 days from the effective date of this Act for those Employees already 
reinstated, such Employee shall exercise such option by filing written notice thereof with the Board of 
Trustees and, if a Division A Employee, shall within the 12 ensuing months pay, into the retirement fund 
an amount equal to the aggregate contributions such Employee would have made had such Employee 
not served in the armed forces, based upon the Salary or Wages being earned at the time of entering 
the armed Services, and if any such Employee shall fail to exercise such option within the time and in the 
manner hereinabove prescribed, such period of military Service shall not thereafter be allowed as 
creditable Service, but shall not be deemed a break in such Employee’s Continuous Service eligibility 
period. Members rehired on or after December 12, 1994, shall be credited with Service for purposes of 
vesting and benefit accrual under the Plan for his or her Service in the uniformed Service (as defined in 
the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, known as the “USERR Act” 
upon termination from employment as an Employee with the Employer, provided that the Employee 
must return to his or her employment as an Employee with the Employer within the time periods 
prescribed by the USERR Act and must comply with the Employee contribution requirements prescribed 
by the USERR Act. The maximum Service credit for uniformed Service shall be 5 years, or such other time 
period as may be prescribed by the USERR Act. Effective as of the dates reflected in the Heroes Earnings 
Assistance and Relief Tax Act (“HEART Act”), the Plan must comply with all applicable provisions of the 
HEART Act. 
 (I) Average Monthly Salary.  The Average Monthly Salary shall be determined by calculating the 
average of an Employee’s Salary for the highest 3 of the last 6 years of Continuous Service ending on the 
date of retirement, and dividing by 12. In the event an Employee does not have 6 years service at the 
time his or her Average Monthly Salary is calculated, the average for the highest 3 of the total number of 
years employed shall be used for this definition. If the Employee does not have 3 years service, the 
average for years employed shall be used.  
 (J)  Accrued Pension.  The Accrued Pension shall mean the amount determined by applying the 
formula in Section 8 to an Employee’s Average Monthly Salary and Service at the date of termination of 
employment. 
 (K) Pension Credit. Pension Credit shall refer to the minimum number of years necessary to have 
a vested pension. For the purposes of this Act, an Employee shall work 6 continuous years to earn 
Pension Credit, except that an Employee’s Pension Credit shall become nonforfeitable if the Plan is fully 
terminated or has a partial termination applicable to such Employee. An Employee with less than 6 
continuous years of service will be entitled to the return of his or her contributions to the Plan upon the 
termination or partial termination of the Plan.  
 (L)  Normal Retirement Date.  This shall mean the date an Employee qualifies for benefits under 
this Act. For Division A Employees, the Normal Retirement Date shall mean the date an Employee has 
both 6 years of Continuous Service and has attained the age of 55 years. For Division B Employees, the 
Normal Retirement Date shall mean the date an Employee has both 6 years of Continuous Service and 
attains the age of 62 years.  
 (M) Social Security Coverage. This means old age, survivors, disability and health insurance as 
provided by the federal Social Security Act. Social Security Coverage is separate and apart from the 
benefits provided by this Act, and may or may not be available at age 62. 
 (N)   Date of Election.  For all Employees who elect to join Division B from Division A, the Date of 
Election shall be considered to be October 1, 1981, regardless of the actual date of election. 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 14 of 62



7 
 

 (O) Language. Whenever the term “he” or “him” appears herein, the same shall also include 
“she” or herhis” when applicable.  
 (P)  Actuarial Equivalent. The Actuarial Equivalent of an Employee’s Accrued Pension shall be 
determined by basing mortality on the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table for Males with female ages 
set back 6 years, and post-disablement mortality upon 80 percent of the 1985 Railroad Board Ultimate 
Mortality Table, or such other mortality tables as are in compliance with the Code. This subsection does 
not apply to Plan Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 2008. 
 (Q)  Plan Year.  Plan Year shall mean the period commencing on the first day of October of each 
year and ending on the last day of September of the following year. 
 (R)  Legal Heirs.  An Employee’s Legal Heirs shall mean an Employee’s designated beneficiary, or, 
in the absence of such a designation, of if there is no surviving designated beneficiary, the legal heirs of 
the Employee as determined by applicable law. For the purposes of this Act, the term “Legal Heirs” and 
“Designated Beneficiary” shall have the same meaning and shall be used interchangeably.  
 (S) Limitation Year. The limitation year shall be the Plan Year. 
 
Section 5. Contributions. 
The Pension Fund shall consist of monies derived from the following sources: 
 (A) Employee Contributions. Division A Employees.  Commencing for earnings paid beginning 
with the first pay date after January 1, 2005, all Employee contributions to the Fund shall be mandatory 
Employee contributions and shall be picked up and paid by the City on Behalf of the member. Such 
contributions shall be made by Employees in an amount equal to 7 percent of all Salaries or Wages of all 
Employees participating in this Fund, which shall be deducted from said Salaries or Wages by the 
Director of Finance, before the same are paid, as long as the Employee continues in the Service of the 
City of Tampa regardless of the number of years of Service with the City. Such contributions, although 
designated as Employee contributions, shall be paid by the City in lieu of contributions by the Employee. 
The contributions so assumed shall be treated as tax-deferred Employer “pick-up” contributions 
pursuant to Section 414(h) of the Code. Members shall not have the option of receiving the contributed 
amounts directly instead of having such contributions paid by the City to the Fund. 
 (B) Employer Contributions. Contributions of the City shall consist of the amount of moneys 
necessary, when combined with Employee contributions, to maintain a level of funding adequate to 
enable payment of the benefit amounts prescribed by the Plan, to pay the yearly amortization of any 
accrued unfunded liability, and to fund the costs of administering the Plan. Employer Contributions shall 
be placed in the Fund established pursuant to this Act. 
 (C) Contributions for Social Security by each Division B Employee and the Employer in the 
amount required for Social Security Coverage as now or hereafter required by the Federal Social Security 
Act shall be in addition to the Contributions specified in this section.  
 
 Section 6. Administration. 
The Administration of this Fund shall be in charge of a pension or retirement board, consisting of seven 
members who shall be designated as trustees of the pension or retirement fund (“Board of Trustees”).  
Three members of this Board shall be appointed by the Mayor or Executive Head of the City of Tampa. 
Three members of this Board of Trustees shall be Employees participating in this Fund elected by the 
members of this Fund. However, not more than one Employee member shall be elected from the same 
department of the Employer. In the event that two or more candidates from the same department 
should receive sufficient number of votes for election, then only the candidate receiving the highest 
number of votes among the candidates from the same department shall be elected. The Director of 
Finance shall be the seventh member of this Board of Trustees. The three members of this Board of 
Trustees to be appointed by the Mayor, or Executive Head, of the City shall be appointed immediately 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 15 of 62



8 
 

after the passage of this Act, and they shall qualify within 30 days thereafter. One member appointed by 
the Mayor, or Executive Head, of the City shall serve for a period of  3 years; one member for a period of  
2 years; and one member for a period of  1 year. Three members of this Board of Trustees shall be 
elected by the Employees who are beneficiaries of this Fund. One member elected shall serve for a 
period of 3 years; one member for a period of 2 years; and one member for a period of 1 year. At the 
expiration of the term of office of each member appointed, the Mayor, or Executive Head, of the City 
shall appoint his or her successor to serve for a term of 3 years. Thirty days prior to the expiration of the 
term of office of each member elected, a successor shall be elected by the Employees and shall take 
office upon the expiration of his or her predecessor’s term and shall serve for a term of  3 years. 
Vacancies on the pension or retirement board before the expiration of the term of office shall be filled in 
the same manner as prescribed for members replacing those whose term of office expires for the period 
of the unexpired time. The Board shall have the power to enter into contracts, adopt and prescribe 
reasonable rules, regulations, and orders necessary and proper for effective administration and 
enforcement of this Act, and for the election of Trustees. The Director of Finance of the City shall be the 
treasurer of the Board and he or she shall give bond as may be prescribed by the board. The city 
attorney shall be the legal advisor of the Board of. The compensation of all persons engaged by the City 
for the Board of Trustees, and all other expenses of the Board of Trustees necessary for the 
administration of the Plan, shall be paid out of the Fund at such rates and in such amounts as the Board 
of Trustees shall approve, but in no case shall the expenditures for such compensation and 
administration exceed .5 percent of the maximum of the Fund each fiscal year. The funds shall be 
managed by said Trustees and shall be invested by the Trustees in accordance with the following:  
 (A) That the Board of Trustees shall retain the services of one or more recognized professional 
investment counselors or state, or national banks in the State of Florida offering qualified and 
competent investment advisory services. Said bank must be capitalized at not less than $10 million, 
having trust assets aggregating not less than $150 million in value, and having not less than 500 trust 
accounts.  
 (B) That not less than once every 6 months, a written opinion shall be obtained from the 
investment counselor(s) as to the overall condition and composition of the investment portfolio. 
 (C) That the portfolio, representing the principal or surplus funds of the pension Fund, may be 
invested in the following securities or other property, real or personal, including, but without being 
limited to bonds, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued, or assumed or guaranteed in whole 
or in part by the United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities; or by any foreign government 
or political subdivisions or agencies thereof;  or by the State of Florida, or by any county, city, school 
district, municipal corporation, or other political subdivision of the State of Florida, both general and 
revenue obligations; in mortgages and other interests in realty and shares or certificates of real estate 
investment trusts; or in such corporation bonds, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness, and 
corporation stocks including common and preferred stocks, or any  corporation created or existing 
under the laws of the United States, or any of the States of the United states or of any foreign 
government or political subdivisions or agencies thereof; as well as alternative investments through 
participation in an alternative investment vehicle as those terms as defined in Section 215-4401(3)(a), 
Florida Statutes, provided:  
 1. The Board of Trustees shall cause actuarial surveys of the Plan to be made from time to 
time as deemed necessary or as required by state law by a competent actuary to be selected by the 
Board of Trustees. 

2. In making each and all of such investments, the Board of Trustees shall exercise the 
judgment and care under the circumstances then prevailing which men or women of ordinary prudence, 
discretion, and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not in regard to 
speculation, but in regard to the permanent disposition of their funds, considering the probable income 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 16 of 62



9 
 

therefrom, as well as probable safety of their capital. However, not more than 7065 percent of said 
Fund, based on the total book value of all investments held, shall be invested at any time in common 
and/or preferred stocks, and not more than 10 percent  of said Fund shall be invested at any given time 
in the preferred and/or common stock of any one corporation and its affiliates; and not more than 5 
percent  of the outstanding stock of any one corporation and its affiliates shall be held by the Fund at 
any given time. ; and that corporation bonds, notes, or other evidence of indebtedness commonly 
referred to as “fixed income investments,” must hold a rating in one of the four highest classifications by 
a major rating service and corporation bonds, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness with an equity 
conversion provision used as an equity substitute are not required to hold a rating in one of the four 
highest classifications by a major rating service. 

3. Anything in this chapter to the contrary notwithstanding, the Board of Trustees may also 
invest the principal or surplus funds of the pension Fund, without limitations, in appropriate contracts of 
life insurance or group annuities, with insurers duly licensed to do business in Florida, including any such 
contract or contracts which provide for the placement of funds in separate accounts maintained by any 
such insurer in accordance with the laws of Florida controlling such accounts. 
 
Section 7. Division Election. 
 (A) All Employees in the General Employees Retirement Fund, prior to the effective date of this 
Act, who would, pursuant to Section 3 of this Act, automatically become members of Division A of this 
Plan, may elect to become members of Division B of this Plan.  
 (B) The election procedure shall be as follows: 
 1. On or after the date this Act becomes law, the Employee shall be given written notice of 
his right of election. 
 2. An Employee shall have from the date of receipt of notice of his right of election         
until October 1, 1981, the effective date of this Act, to become a member of Division B of this Plan. 
 (C) Any member of Division A, on the effective date of this Act, who elects to become a member 
of Division B shall be considered to have been a member of Division B since his original date of 
acceptance as a member of Division A, subject to the minimum benefits specified in Section (8(b)2. 
Employees who elect to become members of Division B shall not receive a refund of the contributions as 
members of Division A.  
 (D) All Employees employed by the City on or after January 1, 1988, and who were employed by 
the City in positions created and financed in whole or in part as the result of participation by the City in 
any form of grant-in-aid program, or of the receipt of funds by the City from any agency, and who are 
otherwise qualified to participate in the General Employees Pension Fund, may elect to receive credit 
for continuous and creditable past Service for their employment in one of the aforesaid positions if said 
Employees comply with the following: 
 1. The affected Employee shall notify the City in writing at any time between July 1,  1988 
and December 31, 1988, of his desire to receive credit for continuous and creditable past Service for his 
employment in one of the aforesaid positions; and  
 2. By September 30, 1989, the Employee shall pay into the pension Fund a sum of  money 
equal to the aggregate Employee contributions, plus compound interest thereon at the rate of 8 percent 
per annum, which the Employee would have paid into the Fund had the employee participated in the 
Fund during the period of the prior service.  
 
Section 8. Longevity Retirement Benefits. 
 
 (A) Division A Employees. An Employee in Division A whose employment terminates on or after 
his normal retirement date shall receive a monthly pension benefit equal to 2 percent of his average 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 17 of 62



10 
 

monthly salary multiplied by his years of Service, plus an additional .5 percent of his average monthly 
salary for each additional year of Service for employment after 15 years for years served on or after 
January 1, 1975, until a maximum of 30 years of Service is reached.   
 (B) Division B Employees.  
 1. An Employee in Division B whose employment terminates on or after his normal 
retirement date shall receive a monthly pension benefit equal to 1.2 percent of his average monthly 
salary multiplied by his Service.  
 2. An Employee in Division B who was previously a member of Division A whose 
employment terminates on or after his normal retirement date shall receive a   pension calculated as in 
subsection (B)1 of this section subject to the following  minimum benefits: said Employee shall not 
receive less than his Accrued Pension in  Division A (calculated as in (A) above), plus 1.2 percent of his 
average monthly salary multiplied by his Service after his date of election. For the purpose of 
determining an Employee’s Accrued Pension in Division A under this subsection, his Average Monthly 
Salary shall be calculated as of the date of election and his Service shall be Service prior to the date of 
election.  
 
Section 9. Deferred Pension. 
 
 (A) Division A Employees. Any Employee who has been in the Service of the City of Tampa for a 
period of not less than 6 years continuously who voluntarily terminates his employment, or is 
discharged may elect to allow the amount contributed to the pension Fund to remain in said Fund, and 
upon attaining the age of 55 years shall be entitled to a pension in an amount equal to the Employee’s 
Accrued Pension based upon the number of years and months of actual Service. 
 (B) Division B Employees. Any Employee in Division B who has worked for the City of Tampa for 
a period of 6 years continuously who leaves the employ of the City either voluntarily or by discharge and 
who has not reached his 62nd birthday, upon attaining his 62nd birthday, shall be entitled to a pension 
equal to his Accrued Pension based upon the number of years and months of actual Service. However, if 
such Employee was previously a member of Division A and elects to withdraw his Employee 
contributions in Division A, his period of Service as a member of Division A shall not be used to qualify 
under this subsection, or if he otherwise qualifies, in computing his pension hereunder. 
 
Section 10. Early Retirement. 
This section shall apply only to Employees in Division B: 
 (A) An Employee in Division B of this Plan, on or after his 55th birthday, may elect to take an Early 
Retirement, provided that he has been in the Service of the City of Tampa for 6 continuous years. 
 (B) An Employee in Division B who elects to take an early retirement as defined in this section 
shall receive an immediate monthly pension commencing on the first day of any month prior to his 
normal retirement date equal to his Accrued Pension reduced by 5/12 percent for each month by which 
the commencement date of such pension preceded his Normal Retirement Date. 
 
Section 11. Disability Retirement. 
 (A) An Employee in Division A or Division B who has been in the service of the City of Tampa for 
a period of not less than 6 years continuously who becomes totally and permanently disabled physically 
or mentally, or both, from further rendering useful and efficient service as an Employee shall be entitled 
to immediately receive a monthly disability pension equal to his Accrued Pension.  
 (B) No such Employee shall be permitted to retire under the provision of this section until 
examined by a duly qualified physician or surgeon, or Board of Physicians and Surgeons, to be selected 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 18 of 62



11 
 

by the Trustees of this Fund for that purpose, and thereby found and certified to be disabled in the 
degree and in the manner herein specified. 
 (C) In the event that an Employee who has been retired on a pension due to total and 
permanent disability should sufficiently regain his health and is found to be physically able to render 
useful and efficient service to the City, the Board of Trustees shall require the said Employee to resume 
employment with said City and discontinue the pension.  
 
Section 12. Death Benefits. 
 (A) Division A Employees. 
 1. Should any retired Employee or active Employee, regardless of age, having earned 
Pension Credit and participated in this Fund, die and leave a widow or widower, and/or a child or 
children under the age of 18 years, or one or both solely dependent parents, then the Trustees shall 
authorize and direct payment of a pension to the widow or widower, and/or child or children, or the 
parent or parents, but only in the following amounts and on the following conditions: 
 a. To the widow or widower until she or he dies or remarries, a monthly pension equal 
to 75 percent of the Employee’s Accrued Pension; however, such monthly pension shall be reduced to 
50 percent of the Employee’s Accrued Pension if such widow/widower remarries.  
  b. To the children, a pension of $100 per month for each child until said child or children 
shall marry or reach the age of 18 years; however, combined payments to the widow or widower, 
and/or children shall not exceed the maximum pension the Employee had earned at the time of his 
death.   
  c. In case there is no widow or widower or children, and either or both parents of the 
Employee are solely dependent on the earnings of such Employee either or both shall jointly receive an 
amount equal to that which would have been paid to the widow or widower under like conditions, or 
said parent or parents may elect to withdraw in a lump sum the amount contributed by the Employee 
during his period of membership in the Fund, in which case no further payments will be made. 
  d. Beneficiaries can only participate in one pension of an Employee, and should there be 
two pensions to spouses’ beneficiaries, participation shall be in the pension having the highest benefits. 
  e. Should any former Employee who has earned pension credit die, then at the time that 
the said decedent would have reached the age of 55 years, his widow, widower, children or dependent 
parent or parents shall receive the pension benefits as provided for in this section. 
  f. Children who are orphaned shall receive equally a monthly pension equal to 75 
percent of the Employee’s Accrued Pension until they marry or reach the age of 18 years, or die. Upon 
said children reaching the age of 18 years, if there is a balance in the Employee’s contribution account, 
said balance shall be paid in a lump sum to his or her legal heirs. 
 2. Should an Employee die before he is entitled to any retirement benefits under this Act, 
then the full amount of his contributions to the Fund, without interest, shall be paid to his legal heirs. 

3. Should an Employee die after he becomes eligible to retirement benefits, but before he 
retires, and is not survived by a widow, widower, children, or dependent parents, if any, then the full 
amount of his contributions to the Fund, without interest, shall be paid to his legal heirs.  

4. Should a retired Employee die before the retirement benefits received by him are 
equivalent to the total amount said Employee has paid into the Fund, then his legal heirs, if Employee is 
not survived by a widow, widower, children or dependent parents, shall be paid a sum of money 
equivalent to the difference between the amount said Employee contributed to the Fund and the total 
amount of money received by the pensioner as retirement pension benefits, without interest.  
 
 (B) Division B Employees. 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 19 of 62



12 
 

1. Should an Employee in Division B having earned Pension Credit, die while in the active 
service of the Employer, the following benefits shall be paid: 

a. The deceased Employee’s legal heirs shall receive in a lump sum, an amount equal to 
the Employee’s annual salary at the time of death; and 
  b. In addition, if the Employee is survived by a spouse, such spouse shall receive a 
monthly pension benefit equal to 50 percent of the Employee’s Accrued Pension. 

2. Should any former Employee of Division B, having previously earned Pension Credit, and 
having previously been receiving retirement benefits pursuant to the provision of this Act, die, then his 
spouse shall receive a monthly pension benefit equivalent to 50 percent of the employee’s monthly 
pension benefit.  

3. Should any former Employee of Division B of having previously earned Pension Credit die, 
then his spouse shall receive, when the deceased Employee would have reached age 62, a monthly 
pension benefit equivalent to 50 percent of the Employee’s Accrued Pension.  

4. No pension shall be allowable to any spouse pursuant to the provisions of this subsection 
unless she or he was married to the deceased Employee on the date of retirement of the Employee. 

5. If any Employee in Division B who was formerly a member of Division A dies without a 
surviving spouse, then his legal heirs shall receive a lump sum payment of his Contributions as a member 
of Division A without interest, less any benefits paid pursuant to this section 
 (C) When the designated beneficiary, as defined in Section 401(a)(9)(E) of the Code, is not the 
Employee’s spouse (including, without limitation, a child, parent, or sibling), distributions made after 
December 31, 2006, from Division A and Division B shall be made in accordance with Section 402(c)(11) 
of the Code, and such designated beneficiary shall have the option to roll over all or a portion of his or 
her death benefit via a direct trustee-to-trustee transfer to an inherited individual retirement account, 
as defined in Section 408(d)(3)(c) of the Code, provided such distribution meets the definition of an 
eligible rollover distribution as defined in Section 26 of this Act. 
 
Section 13. Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA). 
 
 (A) The purpose of this section is to provide cost-of-living adjustments to the monthly pension 
benefits due all retired Employees of this Plan. 
 (B) On October 1, 1999, a single adjustment shall be made to the pension benefit due each 
Employee who retired before January 1, 1975, from active service, and the beneficiaries thereof, such 
that the amount of the monthly pension benefit due such Employees and beneficiaries on October 1, 
1999, shall be the amount of the retired Employee’s or Beneficiary’s monthly benefit being received on 
September 30, 1999, plus an amount, compounded annually from such Employee’s date of retirement 
from active service until January 1, 1999, equal to 1percent  of such benefit.  
 (C) Commencing January 1, 2000, and each January 1 thereafter, the pension benefit due each 
retired Employee or beneficiary shall be adjusted as follows: 

1. For those retired Employees, and beneficiaries thereof, in Division A, the amount of the 
monthly pension benefit due for the 12-month period commencing on the adjustment date shall be the 
amount of the retired Employee’s or beneficiary’s monthly benefit being received on December 31 
immediately preceding the adjustment date plus an amount equal to 2 percent of such benefit. 
Commencing January 1, 2005, the 2-percent adjustment amount provided for in this subparagraph (C)1. 
shall be revised to 2.2 percent.  

2. For those retired Employees, and beneficiaries thereof, in Division B, the amount of the 
monthly pension benefit due for the 12-month period commencing on the adjustment date shall be the 
amount of the retired Employee’s or beneficiary’s monthly benefit being received on December 31 
immediately preceding the adjustment date plus an amount equal to 1 percent of such benefit. 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 20 of 62



13 
 

Commencing January 1, 2005, the 1-percent adjustment amount provided for in this subparagraph (C)2. 
shall be revised to 1.2 percent. 
 
Section 14. Refund of Contributions. 
 (A) In the event of voluntary resignation or discharge of any Employee in Division A who is not 
qualified for retirement as herein provided, said Employee shall receive a refund of 100 percent of his 
said contribution without interest. Upon the voluntary resignation or discharge of any Employee, said 
Employee shall immediately cease to be a member and entitled to any of the benefits of said pension 
Fund.  
 (B) Any Employee in Division B who was previously a member of Division A, who voluntarily 
resigns or is discharged and who is not qualified for retirement as herein provided, said Employee shall 
receive a refund of 100 percent of his said contribution made while in Division A, without interest. Upon 
the voluntary resignation or discharge of such Employee, said Employee shall immediately cease to be a 
member and entitled to any of the benefits of said pension Fund. 
 (C) Refund of Employee contributions shall be paid in accordance with Section 26 of this Act. 
 
Section 15. Reemployment After Termination. 
 
 (A) Should any former Employee in Division A of the City of Tampa who had participated in the 
Fund and had withdrawn his contributions be reinstated or reemployed, said Employee may receive 
credit toward retirement for any previous service under the provisions of this Act, provided said 
Employee shall redeposit in the pension Fund the amount refunded upon the Employee’s voluntary 
resignation or discharge and shall pay a yearly interest rate as determined by the Board of Trustees  
upon the amount so redeposited for the period of time elapsing between receipt of the refunded 
monies provided for herein and redeposit of the same in the pension Fund. In order to receive credit for 
past service under this subsection, an Employee must return to work with the City within 5 years of the 
date of withdrawal of his contributions. Employees who have already received a refund on the effective 
date of this Act, shall have 5 years from the effective date of this Act to be eligible to repurchase past 
Service. Such Employee cannot receive any benefit under this Act unless he shall then serve 
continuously for a period of 6 years. Past Service in Division A repurchased by a Division B Employee 
shall be treated as Division B Service for the purpose of calculating benefits subject to the minimum 
benefits specific in Section 8(B)2.  
 
 (B) An Employee in Division B who terminates his employment with the City, or is terminated, if 
he is reemployed with the City, shall receive credit for his past Service if he returns to employment with 
the City within 5 years of his voluntary termination or discharge. However, the Employee shall work 6 
continuous years from his date of reemployment before becoming eligible to receive any benefits under 
this Act. 
 
 (C) An Employee in Division A or B who elects to take a Deferred Pension as defined in Section 9 
of this Act and subsequently returns to employment with the City shall not receive any additional 
benefits (in computing Average Monthly Salary, Continuous Service, or otherwise) until he shall then 
serve for a period of 6 continuous years from his date of reemployment. However, an Employee who 
earned a Deferred Pension in Division A who returns to work with the City may have either his Deferred 
Pension in Division A considered separate and apart from his Service upon reemployment in Division B 
(in which case, he may receive his Division A benefits at age 55, provided he is no longer in the employ 
of the City); or, he may have his Service earned in Division A converted to Division B Service subject to 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 21 of 62



14 
 

the minimum benefits of Section 8(B)2. This election shall be made at the date of retirement after 
reemployment.  
 
Section 16. Reemployment of Retired Employees. Upon the employment of any person in Division A or 
Division B who shall have retired under the pension or retirement Plan and shall be receiving pension 
payments, such person shall resume his participation in the Plan, shall not be entitled to receive pension 
payments during or for the period of such additional Service, the period of such retirement shall not 
constitute a break in Service, and the period of such retirement shall not be allowed as creditable 
Service. The monthly pension payable when such officer or person is eligible to receive a pension shall 
consist of the sum of (A) and (B) below, provided that the total pension shall not be less than $100 per 
month after 25 years of Service. 
 (A) The monthly pension he was receiving immediately prior to the commencement of his 
additional Service; plus 
 (B) One and two-tenths percent of his Average Monthly Salary at the end of his period of 
additional Service multiplied by the number of years of additional Service, provided, however, that this 
additional benefit shall not be payable before the age of 62 years.    
 
 
Section 17. Officers. 
 
 (A) Elective officers, department heads, and appointive officers of the City shall participate in 
the pension or retirement Plan. Such elective officers, department heads, and appointive officers shall 
have the same status for pension purposes as permanent Employees; provided, however, any such 
elective officer, department head, or appointive officer of the City who (1) shall have participated in the 
pension or retirement Plan and acquired a vested right to a deferred proportionate pension thereunder; 
(2) shall have at the end of any term in office (a) unsuccessfully sought election, (b) not been appointed, 
or (c) not declined appointment to any office of the City; (3) shall have left his contributions in the Fund 
if he was a member of Division A and had contributed to the Fund, and (4) is or shall have been 
subsequently elected or appointed to any office or employed in any position in the City, shall resume his 
participation in the Plan; and the period during which such person shall have been out of office shall not 
constitute a break in Service, but no creditable Service shall be allowed for such period. Pensions under 
this section shall be calculated in the same manner as any pensions of Employees receiving retirement 
benefits who were subsequently reemployed (section 16).  
 (B) Elective officers, department heads, and appointive officers, working with the City prior to 
October 1, 1981, who are not members of the General Employees Retirement Fund, and are employed 
with the City on or after January 1, 1988, may become members of Division B if they comply with the 
following: 

1. Notify the City, in writing, at any time between July 1, 1988, and December 31, 1988, of 
their desire to participate in Division of the Fund; and 

2. By September 30, 1989, pay into the Fund a sum of money equal to the aggregate 
contributions, plus compound interest Thereon at the rate of 8percent  per annum, which they would 
have paid into the Fund had they participated in the Fund from the time period they initially began 
working with the City. 
 
Section 18. Physical Examination. 
All persons employed by the City after the passage of this Act shall be required to pass a physical 
examination conducted by a duly qualified physician or surgeon, or Board of Trustees of Physicians or 
Surgeons, to be selected by the Trustees of this Fund for that purpose and by said physician or surgeon, 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 22 of 62



15 
 

or Board of Trustees of Physicians or Surgeons, found and certified to be mentally and physically 
qualified for such employment. Those holding employment with the City before the passage of this Act 
shall not be required to take a physical examination as before stated. Once the Employee has passed the 
physical examination, he shall immediately become a member of the Plan. However, a Temporary 
Employee shall not be given a physical examination until 180 days after his or his date of employment.  
 
Section 19. Construction.  This Act shall be liberally construed in accordance with general law and the 
federal tax code, and if any part or portion thereof be declared invalid, or the application thereof to any 
person, circumstance or thing is declared invalid, the validity of the remainder of this Act shall not be 
affected thereby. 
 
Section 20. Exemptions. 
The pensions or other benefits accrued or accruing to any person under the provisions of this Act, and 
the accumulated contributions and the cash securities in the funds created under this Act, are hereby 
exempted from any state, county, or municipal tax of the State of Florida, and shall not be subject to 
execution or attachment or to any legal process whatsoever, and shall be unassignable.  
 
Section 21. Pension Benefits; Certain Firefighters and Police Officers. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act to the contrary, the following provisions shall apply only 
to those firefighters and police officers who prior to October 16, 1992, (the effective date of the Older 
Workers Benefit Protection Act (OWBPA}), were participants in Division B of the Plan and who became 
members of the City Pension Fund for Firefighters and Police Officers in the City of Tampa as of the 
OWBPA Effective Date pursuant to chapter 94-463, Laws of Florida:   

1. Longevity retirement, deferred pension, early retirement and death benefits accrued as of 
the OWBPA effect date shall be computed by using only that period of Service prior to the OWBPA 
effective date as members of Division B of the Plan and shall be paid to, or paid on behalf of, each such 
firefighter or police officer on and after the OWBPA effective date as set forth under the terms of this 
Act. 

2. Death Benefits payable on behalf of any such firefighter or police officer shall be provided 
only as set forth in subparagraphs 2, 3, and 4 of Section 12(B) or this Plan; provided, however, that if a 
death benefit is paid under the City Pension Fund for Firefighters and Police Officers in the City of Tampa 
on behalf of any such firefighter or police officer on account of death resulting from injuries or causes 
occurring while in the discharge of duty as firefighter or police officer, then no death benefit shall be 
paid on behalf of such firefighter or police officer under this Act. 

3. Disability benefits shall not be paid to any such firefighter or police officer after the 
OWBPA Effective Date. 

4. For purposes of determining the minimum number of years necessary to have a vested 
pension and the Normal Retirement Date of any such firefighter or police officer, Service after the 
OWBPA Effect Date shall be counted as Continuous Service under this Act. 

5. The Average Monthly Salary of each such firefighter or police officer shall be determined 
by calculating the average of such firefighter’s or police officer’s salary for the highest three of the last 
10 years of participation in Division B of the Plan prior to the OWBPA Effective Date, and dividing by 12; 
provided, however, that in the event such firefighter or police officer does not have 10 years of 
participation in Division B of the Plan prior to the OWBPA Effective Date at the time his Average Monthly 
Salary is calculated, the average for the highest 3 of the total number of years of participation in Division 
B of the Plan prior to the OWBPA Effective Date, shall be used; provided, further, that if such firefighter 
or police officer does not have 3 years of participation in Division B of the Plan prior to the OWBPA 
effective date, the average for years of such participation shall be used. 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 23 of 62



16 
 

6. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Act to the contrary, for purposes of 
determining the longevity retirement, deferred pension, early retirement, death benefits, and Average 
Monthly Salary of each such firefighter or police officer, Service prior to the OWBPA Effective Date shall 
not be included to the extent that such firefighter or police officer purchases creditable Service under 
the City Pension Fund for Firefighters and Police Officers in the City of Tampa for Service as a firefighter 
or police officer with the City of Tampa prior to the OWBPA effective date. 
 
Section 22. Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP).  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this 
Act, and subject to the provisions of this section, the Deferred Retirement Option Program, hereinafter 
referred to as the DROP, is an option under which an eligible member may elect, commencing on 
October 1, 1999, to have the member’s pension benefits calculated as of a certain date prior to 
retirement, and accumulate benefits plus the investment return pursuant to this section during the 
DROP calculation period. Participation in the DROP does not guarantee employment for the DROP 
calculation period, as defined in this section. 
 
 (A) Eligibility: In order to be eligible for the DROP option, the member must meet the following 
eligibility criteria: 

1. The member must have attained the age of 55 years and at least 6 years of continuous 
Service at the time the member files an election under this section. A member is eligible for 
accumulations pursuant to the DROP for a maximum of 7 years. 

2. The member must meet all eligibility requirements for pension benefits, other than 
separation from Service as an Employee of the City. 

3. Upon electing to participate in the DROP, the member shall submit on forms required by 
the City and the Board of Trustees: 

a. An irrevocable written election to participate in the DROP, specifying a DROP benefits 
calculation date. The DROP benefit calculation date is used to determine the DROP calculation period, 
which commences on the DROP benefit calculation date and ends on the earlier of the member’s 
separation from service or death;  

b. An irrevocable notice of employment termination to take effect upon the expiration 
of the DROP calculation period; provided that a DROP participant shall not be precluded from voluntarily 
terminating employment with the City before the expiration of the DROP calculation period, nor shall 
the City be precluded from terminating such DROP participant’s employment as applicable due to 
disciplinary action, layoff, or other separation in accordance with the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement, civil Service law, or other applicable law;   

c. A properly completed application for the longevity retirement benefits to be 
calculated pursuant to Section 8 or Section 10 as of the DROP benefit calculation date; and 

d. Any other information required by the Board of Trustees.  
4. A member may only make on DROP election during the member’s lifetime. 

 (B) Status. For pension purposes only: 
1. During the DROP calculation period, there shall be no pension contribution deductions 

made from the earnings, wages, salary, or compensation earned by the DROP participant. 
2. Upon entry into the DROP, a DROP participant shall no longer be entitled to disability 

retirement benefits pursuant to Section 11. 
3. Death benefits under the DROP. Upon the death of a DROP participant, the named 

beneficiary or beneficiaries shall be entitled to receive the benefits accumulated during the DROP 
calculation period as of the date of death. After the death of such DROP participant, death benefits shall 
be paid as required by Section 12. Eligibility to participate in the DROP terminates upon the death of 
such DROP participant.  

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 24 of 62



17 
 

4. A DROP participant shall not be eligible to be elected as a member of the Board of 
Trustees during such participant’s DROP calculation period. 
 (C) Benefits under DROP:   

1. Effective with the DROP benefit calculation date, a DROP participant’s monthly pension 
installments calculated pursuant to Section 8 or Section 10, including Continuous Service, such 
participant’s Average Monthly Salary and the effective date of retirement shall be fixed. 

2. The DROP accumulation shall be calculated as follows: 
a. The amount of the monthly installments to which the member would have been 

entitled to receive from the DROP benefit calculation date to the end of the member’s DROP calculation 
period. 

b. The amount of any cost-of-living adjustments pursuant to Section 13 during the DROP 
benefit calculation period. 

c. Interest accumulation as set forth in this section. 
3. At the conclusion of the member’s DROP benefit calculation period, the Board of Trustees 

shall distribute the member’s benefits, subject to the following provisions: 
 a. The Board of Trustees shall receive verification by the City that such DROP 

participant’s employment as an Employee of the City has terminated; 
b. A terminated DROP participant or, if deceased, such participant’s named beneficiary 

or beneficiaries, shall elect on forms provided by the Board of Trustees to receive the DROP benefits in 
accordance with the one of the options provided in subparagraph E.1. Once a DROP participant 
commences distribution under a payment method, or receives a lump sun, no further interest shall be 
payable to the DROP participant. For a DROP participant or beneficiary who fails to elect a method of 
payment within 60 days of termination of DROP participation, the Board of Trustees will pay a lump sum 
as provided hereafter. 
 (D) Interest and Administrative Costs: Interest shall accumulate annually, whether positive or 
negative, during the DROP calculation period, less the cost of administering the DROP, all of which shall 
be determined by the Board of Trustees. A DROP participant shall have the opportunity to elect, as 
provided in this subsection, an investment option to be applied to such DROP participant’s account for 
the Plan Year when entering the DROP and for each subsequent Plan Year. In such election, the DROP 
participant shall choose to have interest accumulate annually, whether positive or negative, at either (i) 
a rate reflecting the Fund’s net investment performance, as determined by the Board of Trustees, or (ii) 
a rate reflective of a low-risk variable rate selected annually by the Board of Trustees in its sole 
discretion. Each election must be made at such time, on such forms, and in such manner as the Board of 
Trustees may determine in its sole discretion. If a DROP participant fails to make a valid election upon 
entering the DROP, the Fund interest rate shall be applied as provided in (i) herein. If a DROP participant 
fails to make a valid election in a subsequent Plan Year, the election for the then-current Plan Year shall 
be applied.  
 (E) Payment: 

1. Upon termination of employment with the City, the accumulated DROP benefits at the 
option of the terminated DROP participant, or if deceased, such participant’s designated beneficiary or 
beneficiaries, shall be distributed to the extent allowed by law by rollover to another qualified Plan, as a 
lump sum payment, as a combination of both, or in such other forms as provided by the rules and 
regulations adopted by the Board of Trustees, provided that such distribution may be adjusted by the 
Board of Trustees to maintain Internal Revenue Code qualification of the Plan. 

2. If a DROP participant dies during the DROP calculation period, or if there is no surviving 
designated beneficiary, to the participant’s spouse, or if there is no surviving designated beneficiary and 
no surviving spouse, to the participant’s estate. Any such payment shall be made in a rollover or lump 
sum payment, unless the participant had already commenced benefit payment of their DROP 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 25 of 62



18 
 

accumulation in an optional plan. In such an event, benefits shall continue to be paid pursuant to the 
optional benefit form selected. 

3. The form of distribution elected by a DROP participant or surviving beneficiary must 
comply with the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations adopted 
thereunder. 

4. A DROP participant who is involuntarily discharged who seeks review of such discharge 
shall not be entitled to receipt of pension benefits or benefits accumulation while in the DROP until it 
has been determined that the discharge was lawful, or at the expiration of DROP participation provided 
in subparagraph (A)1., whichever is first. 

5. The accumulated benefits of any DROP participant, including any interest thereon, shall 
not be subject to assignment, garnishment, execution, attachment, or to any legal process whatsoever, 
except income deduction orders as provided in  s. 61.1301, Florida Statutes, and federal income tax 
levies. 

6. Upon termination from employment with the City, the monthly pension installments 
pursuant to Section 8 or Section 10, and the COLA pursuant to Section 13, shall be paid to the member, 
and upon death of the member, monthly pension installments shall be paid pursuant to Section 12 with 
COLA pursuant to Section 13.  
 (F) Conflict of Laws. To the extent that any provision of this section is in conflict with ss. 112.60-
112.67, Florida Statues, that apply to local law plans established by municipal ordinance or special act, 
or provision of Florida Statutes made applicable to pension funds established by special act, or to the 
extent that any provision of this section would result in the loss of tax exempt status of the Plan, the 
Board of Trustees is hereby delegated the authority to adopt by rule changes to this section in order to 
comply with said laws, which shall have the force of law and shall be considered part of this Act. 
 (G) Administration of program. The Board of Trustees shall make such rules as are necessary for 
the effective and efficient administration of this section, provided that such rules are not inconsistent 
with the provisions of this Act. The Board of Trustees shall not be required to advise members of the 
federal tax consequences of an election related to the DROP, but may advise members to seek 
independent advice. Notwithstanding any other provision of this section to the contrary, each provision 
of this section shall be construed and administered in such a manner that the Plan and such program 
shall qualify as a qualified governmental pension Plan under existing or hereafter enacted provisions of 
the Internal Revenue Code of the United States and the regulations adopted thereunder, and the Board 
of Trustees may adopt any rule necessary to accomplish the purpose of this section as is necessary to 
retain tax qualification, which rule shall have the force of law and shall be considered part of this Act. 
 
Section 23. Sole Purpose. 
The Plan is created for the sole purpose of providing benefits to the Employees of the City. Except as 
otherwise permitted by law, in no event shall any part of the principal or income of the Fund be paid to 
or reinvested in the City or be used for or diverted to any purpose whatsoever other than for the 
exclusive benefit of the Employees participating in the Plan and their beneficiaries.  
 
Section 24. Limitations on Amounts of Benefits. 
 
 (A) For Plan Years ending after December 31, 2001, benefits for an Employee under this Plan, 
when expressed as a benefit payable annually in the form of a straight life annuity without regard to the 
death benefit or any other ancillary benefit, shall not at any time within the limitation year exceed the 
limits provided under Section 415(b) of the Code.  
 (B) 1. The limitation set forth in subsection (A) shall be actuarially reduced in accordance with 
regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury for any retirement benefit that may begin before 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 26 of 62



19 
 

an Employee attains age 62, by adjusting such benefit so that it is equivalent to such a benefit beginning 
at age 62. For Plan Years ending before January 1, 2002, and repealed for Plan Years ending thereafter, 
the reduction shall not reduce the limitation set forth in subsection (A) to less than (a) $75,000 if the 
benefit begins at or after age 55, or (b) if the benefit begins before age 55, the equivalent of the $75,000 
limitation for age 55. 

2. If any retirement benefit begins after the Employee attains age 65, the limitation set forth 
in subsection (A) shall be adjusted (based upon an interest rate assumption of 5 percent ) in accordance 
with regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury, by adjusting such benefit so that it is 
equivalent to such benefit beginning at age 65. 
 (C) The benefit payable with respect to an Employee shall be deemed not to exceed the 
limitations set forth in subsections (A) and (B) if the benefit payable with respect to such Employee 
under this Plan, and under all other defined benefit pension Plans to which the City contributes, does 
not exceed $10,000 for the applicable Plan year and for any Plan year and the City has not at any time 
maintained a defined contribution Plan in which the Employee participated. 
 (D) In accordance with Section 415(b)(5) of the Code, the limitation in subsection (A), and the 
limitation in subsection (C), shall be multiplied by a fraction (not in excess of 1), the numerator of which 
is the number of the Employee’s years of Service in the Plan (in the case of the limitation set forth in 
subsection (A)) or the number of the Employee’s years of Service (in the case of the limitation set forth 
in subsection (C)) and the denominator of which, in either case, is 1.0.  
 (E) As of January 1 of each calendar year, the limitation set forth in subsection (A) shall be 
adjusted as, and if permitted by the Secretary of the Treasury, and any such adjusted limitation shall 
become effective as the maximum dollar limitation under the Plan for that calendar year. The maximum 
dollar limitation for a calendar year, as so adjusted, shall apply to limitation years ending with or within 
such calendar year. 
 (F) The following is repealed for Plan Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 1999:  
 
1. In the event that any Employee participates in both a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution 
plan maintained by the City, then the sum of the Defined Benefit Plan Fraction (as defined in Section 
415(e) of the Code) and the Defined Contribution Plan Fraction (as defined in Section 415(e)  of the 
Code) for any limitation year shall not exceed 1.0. 

2. In the event that the sum of the Defined Benefit Plan Fraction and the Defined 
Contribution Plan Fraction exceeds 1.0, then the Board of Trustees shall take such actions, applied in a 
uniform and nondiscriminatory manner, as will keep the benefits and annual additions thereto for such 
Employees from exceeding these limits. Adjustments shall be made to this Plan before any adjustments 
shall be required to any other plans.  
 (G) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, benefits and limitations under this Plan 
shall satisfy all the applicable provisions of Section 415 of the Code and the regulations thereunder, 
which provisions and regulations are incorporated by reference. 
 
Section 25. Latest Date of Commencement of Benefits. The distribution of a member’s benefit shall be 
made in accordance with the following requirements, and shall otherwise comply with Section 401(a)(9) 
of the Code and the regulations thereunder, as prescribed by the Commissioner in Revenue Rulings, 
Notices, and other guidance published in the Internal Revenue Bulletin, to the extent that said 
provisions apply to governmental plans under Section 414(d) of the Code. The distribution provisions of 
Section 401(a)(9) of the Code shall override any distribution options in the Plan inconsistent with Section 
401(a)(9) of the Code: 
 (A) Any benefit paid to a member shall commence not later than the last to occur of: 
  1. April 1 of the year following the calendar year in which the member retires; or 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [NN1]:  IRC Section 415(e) was 
repealed in 1996.   

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 27 of 62



20 
 

  2. April 1 of the year immediately following the calendar year in which the member 
reaches age 70 ½. 
 (B) Distributions of members’ benefits will be made in accordance with Sections 1.401(a)(9)-2. 
through 1.401(a)(9)-9. of the Code and such other rules thereunder as may be prescribed by the 
Secretary of the Treasury, to the extent that said provisions apply to governmental plans under Section 
414(d) of the Code. 
 (C) Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, payments under the Plan to a 
Beneficiary due to a member’s death shall satisfy the incidental death benefit requirements and all 
other applicable provisions of Section 401(a)(9)(G) of the Code, the regulations issued thereunder, and 
such other rules thereunder as may be prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury including IRS Notice 
2007-7, to the extent that said provisions apply to governmental plans under Section 414(d) of the Code. 
 
Section 26. Direct Rollovers.  (A) This section applies to distributions made on or after January 1, 
1993. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary a distributee may elect, at the time and 
in the manner prescribed by the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service, to have any portion of 
an eligible rollover distribution (as define below) paid directly to an eligible retirement rollover plan (as 
defined below) specified by the distributee in a direct rollover (as defined below). If a member fails to 
elect a distribution option as provided under Sections 14 and 22 of this Act, then such member’s benefit 
shall be rolled over to an individual retirement account designated by the Board of Trustees, as defined 
in Section 6. 
 
 (B) For purposes of this section, the following terms shall have the following meanings: 
 

1. An “eligible rollover distribution” is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to 
the credit of the distributee, except than an eligible rollover distribution does not include: any 
distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than 
annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life 
expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee’s designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of 
10 years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Section 401(a)(9) of 
the Code, and the portion of any distribution that is not includable in gross income (determined without 
regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to employer securities). 
Notwithstanding the above, a portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an “eligible rollover 
distribution” merely because the portion consists of after-tax voluntary Employee contributions that are 
not includable in gross income. However, such portion may be transferred only to an individual 
retirement account or annuity described in Section 408(a) or (b) of the Code or to a qualified defined 
contribution plan described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code that agrees to separately account for 
amounts transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution that is 
includable in gross income and the portion of such distribution that is not so includable.  

 
2. An “eligible retirement rollover plan” is an individual retirement account described in 

Section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(b) of the Code, 
other than an endowment contract; a qualified trust (an employees’ trust) described in Section 401(a) of 
the Code that is exempt from tax under Section 501(a) of the Code; an annuity plan described in Section 
403(a) of the Code; an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code that is maintained by a state, a 
political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision and 
that agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan; or an annuity 
contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code that accepts the distributee’s eligible rollover 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 28 of 62



21 
 

distribution. However, in the case of an eligible rollover distribution to the surviving spouse, an eligible 
retirement rollover plan is an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity. 

 
3. A “distributee” includes the member or former member. In addition the member’s or 

former member’s surviving spouse and the member’s or former member’s spouse or former spouse 
who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Section 414(p) of 
the Code, are distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse. 

 
4. A “direct rollover” is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the 

distributee. 
 
  

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 29 of 62



22 
 

The Acts amending Chapter 23559, Laws of Florida of 1945, are: 
 

 Chapter 24924, Special Act of 1947 
 Chapter 26264, Special Act of 1949 
   Chapter 27934, Special Act of 1951 
   Chapter 29563, Special Act of 1953 
   Chapter 31301, Special Act of 1955 
   Chapter 57-1900, Special Act of 1957 
   Chapter 59-1922, Special Act of 1959 
   Chapter 61-2919, Special Act of 1961 
   Chapter 65-2313, Special Act of 1965 
   Chapter 67-2115, Special Act of 1967 
   Chapter 67-2120, Special Act of 1967 
   Chapter 69-1660, Special Act of 1969 
   Chapter 69-1664, Special Act of 1969 
   Chapter 70-953, Special Act of 1970 
   Chapter 70-957, Special Act of 1970 
   Chapter 71-943, Special Act of 1971 
   Chapter 72-702, Special Act of 1972 
   Chapter 72-703, Special Act of 1972 
   Chapter 72-704, Special Act of 1972 
   Chapter 73-636, Special Act of 1973 
   Chapter 74-616, Special Act of 1974 
   Chapter 75-512, Special Act of 1975 
   Chapter 75-513, Special Act of 1975 
   Chapter 76-493, Special Act of 1976 
   Chapter 76-494, Special Act of 1976 
   Chapter 79-574, Special Act of 1979 
   Chapter 81-497, Special Act of 1981 
   Chapter 86-405, Special Act of 1986 
   Chapter 88-496, Special Act of 1988 
   Chapter 94-463, Special Act of 1994 
   Chapter 99-420, Special Act of 1999 
   Chapter 2000-490, Special Act of 2000 
   Chapter 2001-321, Special Act of 2001 
   Chapter 2002-369, Special Act of 2002 
   Chapter 2004-431, Special Act of 2004 
   Chapter 2005-326, Special Act of 2005 
   Chapter 2006-346, Special Act of 2006 
   Chapter 2011-239, Special Act of 2011 

Chapter 2013-253, Special Act of 2013 
 
 
   
 
 
   
 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 30 of 62



23 
 

 

City of Tampa 
General Employees’ Retirement Fund 

306 E. Jackson Street, 7E 
Tampa, FL 33602 

 
 
 

Voice:  
(813) 274-7850 

 
Fax:  

(813) 274-7289 
 

Email:  
gepension@tampagov.net 

 
 

Website:  

www.tampagov.net/gepension 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

12/12 

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 31 of 62

http://www.tampagov.net/gepension


 Preliminary

 © 2017 Asset Consulting Group All Rights Reserved  1

Asset Class

Market
Value

($000s)

Actual
Allocation

(%)

Target
Allocation

(%)

Over/
Under

(%)
Total Portfolio 705,642 100.00 100.00
Equity 448,370 63.54 60.00 3.54 55.00 65.00

     US Large Cap Equity 179,028 25.37 25.00 0.37 20.00 30.00
     US Small Cap Equity 78,390 11.11 10.00 1.11 7.00 13.00
     Int'l Developed Markets Equity 151,935 21.53 20.00 1.53 17.00 23.00
     Emerging Markets Equity 39,017 5.53 5.00 0.53 3.00 7.00

Fixed Income 195,115 27.65 30.00 -2.35 23.00 37.00

Real Assets 61,732 8.75 10.00 -1.25 7.00 13.00

     Core Real Estate 41,573 5.89 7.00 -1.11 5.00 12.00
     Opportunistic Real Estate 20,111 2.85 3.00 -0.15 1.00 5.00
     Global REITs 48 0.01 0.00 0.01 0.00 5.00

Cash and Equivalents 426 0.06 0.00 0.06

Market
Value

($000s)

Actual
Allocation

(%)

1
Month

(%)
YTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1
Year
(%)

3
Years
(%)

5
Years
(%)

10
Years
(%)

Since
Inception

(%)

Total Portfolio (07/85) 705,642 100.00 1.98 11.41 12.09 13.21 6.46 9.80 6.02 8.73
Policy Index 1 1.67 9.43 9.94 10.68 6.24 9.11 5.56 --

1

City of Tampa General Employees' Retirement Fund
For the Periods Ending July 31, 2017

Range
Min - Max

(%)

The Policy Index consists of 30% BloomBar US Aggregate, 20% MSCI EAFE, 25% Russell 1000, 10% Russell 2000, 5% MSCI Emerging Markets, 5% NFI ODCE net and 5% FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed RE. Prior to June 2014, the Policy Index consisted of 30% 
BloomBar US Aggregate, 18% MSCI EAFE, 29% Russell 1000, 7% Russell 2000, 3% MSCI EAFE SMID NetDiv, 3% MSCI Emerging Markets, 5% NFI ODCE net and 5% FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed RE.  Prior to August 2009, the Policy Index consisted of 30% 
BloomBar US Aggregate, 18% MSCI EAFE, 32% Russell 1000, 8% Russell 2000, 3.5% MSCI EAFE Small Cap, 3.5% MSCI Emerging Markets, and 5% NFI ODCE net. 

25
.3

7%

11
.1

1%

21
.5

3%

5.
53

%

27
.6

5%

5.
89

%

2.
85

%

0.
01

%

0.
06

%

25
.0

0%

10
.0

0%

20
.0

0%

5.
00

%

30
.0

0%

7.
00

%

3.
00

%

0.
00

%

0.
00

%

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

US Large Cap Equity US Small Cap Equity Int'l Developed Markets
Equity

Emerging Markets Equity Fixed Income Core Real Estate Opportunistic Real Estate Global REITs Cash and Equivalents

Actual vs. Target Allocation

Actual Allocation Target Allocation

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 32 of 62



 Preliminary

 © 2017 Asset Consulting Group All Rights Reserved  2

Market
Value

($000s)

Actual
Allocation

(%)

1
Month

(%)
YTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1
Year
(%)

3
Years
(%)

5
Years
(%)

10
Years
(%)

Since
Inception

(%)

Total Portfolio (07/85) 705,642 100.00 1.98 11.41 12.09 13.21 6.46 9.80 6.02 8.73
Policy Index 1 1.67 9.43 9.94 10.68 6.24 9.11 5.56 --

US Large Cap Equity (04/02) 179,028 25.37 2.82 13.34 18.81 21.47 11.05 16.51 8.58 8.50
Russell 1000 1.98 11.44 15.70 15.95 10.58 14.85 7.84 7.54

US Small Cap Equity (01/99) 78,390 11.11 1.31 9.15 19.28 20.57 10.24 15.26 8.70 11.36
Russell 2000 0.74 5.77 15.11 18.45 9.89 14.19 7.76 8.20

Non US Equity  (03/03) 190,952 27.06 2.90 19.88 17.69 19.24 3.76 8.79 2.73 9.20
Non US Equity Index 2 3.52 19.15 17.54 19.73 3.25 9.23 2.11 9.72

Fixed Income (10/84) 195,115 27.65 1.25 5.83 1.67 1.75 2.36 2.37 4.79 6.74
BloomBar US Aggregate 0.43 2.71 -0.34 -0.51 2.71 2.02 4.44 7.21

Real Assets (07/02) 61,732 8.75 0.01 3.11 1.99 1.56 6.87 8.69 4.77 8.08
Real Assets Composite Index 3 0.94 5.21 3.34 2.50 7.91 9.58 4.66 --

Cash and Equivalents (06/93) 426 0.06 0.08 0.30 0.39 0.45 0.38 0.28 0.76 2.89
US T-Bills 90 Day 0.09 0.39 0.48 0.54 0.26 0.19 0.55 2.66

2

3

The Non US Equity Index consists of 80% MSCI EAFE and 20% MSCI Emerging Markets Index. Prior to June 2014, the Non U.S. Equity Policy Index consisted of 75% MSCI EAFE, 12.5% MSCI EAFE SMID NetDiv, and 12.5% MSCI Emerging Markets Index.

The Real Assets Composite Index consists of 50% NFI ODCE net and 50% FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed RE Index.

For the Periods Ending July 31, 2017
City of Tampa General Employees' Retirement Fund

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 33 of 62



 Preliminary

 © 2017 Asset Consulting Group All Rights Reserved  3

Market
Value

($000s)

Actual
Allocation

(%)

1
Month

(%)
YTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1
Year
(%)

3
Years
(%)

5
Years
(%)

10
Years
(%)

Since
Inception

(%)

US Large Cap Equity (04/02) 179,028 25.37 2.82 13.34 18.81 21.47 11.05 16.51 8.58 8.50
Russell 1000 1.98 11.44 15.70 15.95 10.58 14.85 7.84 7.54

   Waddell & Reed Investment Management (12/04) 89,804 12.73 3.82 17.99 16.54 17.86 11.59 16.11 9.95 10.16
Russell 1000 Growth 2.66 17.02 18.21 18.05 12.66 15.60 9.36 9.37

   Dodge & Cox Incorporated  (04/02) 89,224 12.64 1.83 8.91 20.53 24.58 9.98 16.51 6.93 8.83
Russell 1000 Value 1.33 6.05 13.13 13.76 8.45 14.00 6.21 7.37

US Small Cap Equity (01/99) 78,390 11.11 1.31 9.15 19.28 20.57 10.24 15.26 8.70 11.36
Russell 2000 0.74 5.77 15.11 18.45 9.89 14.19 7.76 8.20

   WTC SC 2000 (01/99) 42,530 6.03 1.61 11.41 20.70 22.79 13.76 17.56 11.79 11.90
Russell 2000 0.74 5.77 15.11 18.45 9.89 14.19 7.76 8.20

   ClariVest Asset Management (07/07) 18,708 2.65 1.83 11.38 19.75 20.04 12.28 16.85 7.61 7.00
Russell 2000 Growth 0.85 10.91 14.87 17.76 10.22 14.58 8.49 7.84

   LMCG Small Cap Value (07/16) 17,152 2.43 0.14 2.40 15.67 16.16 -- -- -- 20.00
Russell 2000 Value 0.63 1.18 15.41 19.21 9.50 13.76 6.94 23.46

Non US Equity (03/03) 190,952 27.06 2.90 19.88 17.69 19.24 3.76 8.79 2.73 9.20
Non US Equity Index 2 3.52 19.15 17.54 19.73 3.25 9.23 2.11 9.72

Int'l Developed Markets Equity
   Marathon-London International Fund (08/15) 77,254 10.95 2.52 17.45 16.06 17.35 -- -- -- 5.48

MSCI EAFE NetDiv 2.88 17.09 16.26 17.77 2.79 9.06 1.46 4.35
MSCI EAFE Value 3.35 15.34 20.20 23.42 1.61 9.29 1.05 4.24

   Fisher Investments (07/03) 74,681 10.58 3.00 20.62 20.10 21.87 5.50 10.17 3.33 8.82
MSCI EAFE 2.89 17.53 16.73 18.32 3.26 9.55 1.94 7.94

MSCI EAFE Growth 2.43 19.87 13.28 13.40 4.83 9.73 2.76 7.93

Emerging Markets Equity
   Aberdeen Asset Management (06/08) 39,017 5.53 3.47 23.38 16.94 18.60 3.20 4.90 -- 5.91

MSCI Emerging Markets 6.04 25.77 20.63 25.30 2.76 5.14 2.32 1.41

City of Tampa General Employees' Retirement Fund
For the Periods Ending July 31, 2017

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 34 of 62



 Preliminary

 © 2017 Asset Consulting Group All Rights Reserved  4

Market
Value

($000s)

Actual
Allocation

(%)

1
Month

(%)
YTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1
Year
(%)

3
Years
(%)

5
Years
(%)

10
Years
(%)

Since
Inception

(%)

Fixed Income (10/84) 195,115 27.65 1.25 5.83 1.67 1.75 2.36 2.37 4.79 6.74
Barclays US Aggregate 0.43 2.71 -0.34 -0.51 2.71 2.02 4.44 7.21

   Taplin, Canida & Habacht (03/97) 70,167 9.94 0.61 3.28 0.63 0.88 2.63 2.58 4.88 5.71
BloomBar US Aggregate 0.43 2.71 -0.34 -0.51 2.71 2.02 4.44 5.29

   State Street Global Advisors (06/03) 60,571 8.58 0.43 2.72 -0.33 -0.50 2.74 2.05 4.55 4.11
BloomBar US Aggregate 0.43 2.71 -0.34 -0.51 2.71 2.02 4.44 4.04

   Brandywine (02/12) 64,376 9.12 2.76 12.01 4.84 4.97 1.69 2.56 -- 3.07
Citigroup World Govt Bond 1.86 6.43 -2.65 -2.87 -0.08 -0.02 3.37 -0.04

Real Assets (07/02) 61,732 8.75 0.01 3.11 1.99 1.56 6.87 8.69 4.77 8.08
Real Assets Composite Index 3 0.94 5.21 3.34 2.50 7.91 9.58 4.66 --

Core Real Estate
   UBS Global Asset Management (09/00) 41,573 5.89 0.00 2.34 3.84 5.60 9.62 9.82 5.23 8.40

NFI ODCE Net 0.00 3.05 4.99 6.91 10.33 10.76 4.29 7.21

Opportunistic Real Estate
   Blackstone (07/17) 20,000 2.83 0.00 -- -- -- -- -- -- 0.00

NFI ODCE Net 0.00 3.05 4.99 6.91 10.33 10.76 4.29 0.00
Private Real Estate (06/04) 111 0.02 1.35 -33.24 -35.67 -37.21 1.52 7.20 -4.78 -1.04

Global REITs
   CBRE Clarion (07/09) 48 0.01 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Dev RE 1.87 7.34 1.55 -1.93 5.09 8.00 3.48 12.54

Cash and Equivalents (06/93) 426 0.06 0.08 0.30 0.39 0.45 0.38 0.28 0.76 2.89
   Private Real Estate Residual Cash 0 0.00 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
Dates behind managers reflect the first full month of performance.

FYTD: Fiscal year ending September.

City of Tampa General Employees' Retirement Fund
For the Periods Ending July 31, 2017

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 35 of 62



 © 2017 Asset Consulting Group All Rights Reserved  5

1
Month

(%)
YTD
(%)

FYTD
(%)

1
Year
(%)

3
Years
(%)

5
Years
(%)

10
Years
(%)

Equity Markets - Core
S&P 500 2.06 11.59 15.86 16.04 10.87 14.78 7.74

Russell 1000 1.98 11.44 15.70 15.95 10.58 14.85 7.84
Russell 2000 0.74 5.77 15.11 18.45 9.89 14.19 7.76
Russell 2500 1.04 7.07 13.63 15.08 9.12 14.43 8.16

Russell Mid Cap 1.47 9.58 13.09 13.04 9.31 15.00 8.24
Equity Markets - Growth

S&P 500 Growth 2.61 16.29 16.85 16.97 12.46 15.41 9.49
Russell 1000 Growth 2.66 17.02 18.21 18.05 12.66 15.60 9.36
Russell 2000 Growth 0.85 10.91 14.87 17.76 10.22 14.58 8.49
Russell 2500 Growth 1.33 12.11 15.02 16.15 10.01 14.87 8.79

Russell Mid Cap Growth 1.67 13.26 13.78 13.39 9.53 14.60 8.30
NASDAQ Comp 3.38 17.93 19.51 22.97 13.26 16.65 9.57

Equity Markets - Value
S&P 500 Value 1.37 6.29 14.10 14.34 8.84 13.94 5.81

Russell 1000 Value 1.33 6.05 13.13 13.76 8.45 14.00 6.21
Russell 2000 Value 0.63 1.18 15.41 19.21 9.50 13.76 6.94
Russell 2500 Value 0.78 2.74 12.34 14.09 8.24 13.96 7.43

Russell Mid Cap Value 1.33 6.57 12.46 12.69 9.00 15.32 7.99
International Markets

MSCI EAFE NetDiv 2.88 17.09 16.26 17.77 2.79 9.06 1.46
MSCI World ex US 2.99 16.61 16.25 17.85 2.77 9.03 1.94

MSCI World 2.42 13.71 15.95 16.78 7.25 12.26 5.04
Fixed Income

BofA ML 1 Yr Treasury Note 0.13 0.43 0.48 0.55 0.45 0.38 1.17
BofA ML High Yield Master II 1.15 6.12 8.12 11.26 5.34 6.75 8.00
BloomBar Intermediate Agg 0.46 2.08 -0.01 0.03 2.29 1.78 4.00

BloomBar US Aggregate 0.43 2.71 -0.34 -0.51 2.71 2.02 4.44
BloomBar Intermediate G/C 0.46 2.20 0.09 -0.03 2.15 1.67 3.82

BloomBar US Credit 0.73 4.44 1.34 1.26 3.67 3.27 5.65

Market Overview
For the Periods Ending July 31, 2017

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 36 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 37 of 62



City of Tampa General Employees' Retirement Fund

Preliminary as of August 09, 2017 Market Value

% of Total 

Fund Target Value Target %

$ Value 

Over/Under 

Target

Proposed 

Rebalance 

(Cash Increase)

Rebalanced 

Value

Rebalanced 

Mix

Total Equity $447,770,344 63.50% $423,067,175 60.00% $24,703,168 ($4,200,000) $443,570,344 62.91%

Waddell & Reed $90,292,321 12.81% $88,138,995 12.50% $2,153,327 $90,292,321 12.81%

Dodge & Cox $88,832,277 12.60% $88,138,995 12.50% $693,282 $88,832,277 12.60%

U.S. Large Cap Equity Total $179,124,598 25.40% $176,277,990 25.00% $2,846,609 $179,124,598 25.40%

ClariVest $18,336,008 2.60% $17,627,799 2.50% $708,209 $18,336,008 2.60%

LMCG $16,813,624 2.38% $17,627,799 2.50% ($814,175) $16,813,624 2.38%

Wellington (closed)* $42,529,646 6.03% $35,255,598 5.00% $7,274,048 ($4,200,000) $38,329,646 5.44%

U.S. Small Cap Equity Total $77,679,278 11.02% $70,511,196 10.00% $7,168,082 $73,479,278 10.42%

Marathon-London Intl Fund* $77,254,059 10.96% $70,511,196 10.00% $6,742,863 $77,254,059 10.96%

Fisher $74,695,692 10.59% $70,511,196 10.00% $4,184,496 $74,695,692 10.59%

Aberdeen* $39,016,717 5.53% $35,255,598 5.00% $3,761,119 $39,016,717 5.53%

Non-U.S. Equity Total $190,966,467 27.08% $176,277,990 25.00% $14,688,478 $190,966,467 27.08%

Total Real Assets $61,723,792 8.75% $70,511,196 10.00% ($8,787,404) $61,723,792 8.75%

Fidelity Real Estate* $110,551 0.02% $0 0.00% $110,551 $110,551 0.02%

Blackstone Real Estate $20,000,000 2.84% $21,153,359 3.00% ($1,153,359) $20,000,000 2.84%

CBRE Clarion $39,764 0.01% $0 0.00% $39,764 $39,764 0.01%

UBS Trumbull** $41,573,476 5.90% $49,357,837 7.00% ($7,784,361) $41,573,476 5.90%

Total Fixed Income (including cash) $195,617,824 27.74% $211,533,588 30.00% ($15,915,764) $4,200,000 $199,817,824 28.34%

Taplin, Canida & Habacht $70,310,284 9.97% $70,511,196 10.00% ($200,912) $70,310,284 9.97%

Brandywine* $64,307,061 9.12% $70,511,196 10.00% ($6,204,135) $64,307,061 9.12%

SSgA* $60,571,481 8.59% $70,511,196 10.00% ($9,939,715) $60,571,481 8.59%

Fixed Income Total $195,188,825 27.68% $211,533,588 30.00% ($16,344,762) $195,188,825 27.68%

Cash and Equivalents $428,998 0.06% $0 0.00% $428,998 $4,200,000 $4,628,998 0.66%

Private Real Estate Residual Cash $0 0.00% $0 0.00% $0 $0 0.00%

City Contribution $0 0.00% $0 0.00% $0 $0 0.00%

Cash and Equivalents Total $428,998 0.06% $0 0.00% $428,998 $4,628,998 0.66%

Total Portfolio $705,111,959 100.00% $705,111,959 100.00% $0 $0 $705,111,959 100.00%

*Market Value as of 07/31/2017

**Market Value as of 06/30/2017

 © 2017 Asset Consulting Group All Rights Reserved
Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 38 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 39 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 40 of 62



 

LONGEVITY RETIREMENTS
Employee Employee Date of Date Separation
Number Name Birth Hired Date Yrs Mos Department
44874-00 Andres Arencibia 7/26/1959 12/14/1998 7/14/2017 18 7 Solid Waste

DROP APPLICATIONS
Employee Employee Date of Date DROP Entry
Number Name Birth Hired Date Yrs Mos Department
45801-00 Ivan Benson 6/24/1955 4/29/2002 7/30/2017 15 3 Parks & Recreation
28557-00 Jerry Combs 7/19/1962 9/14/1981 7/30/2017 30 0 Transportation Stormwater Services
50319-00 Doris Kearns 1/5/1954 11/1/2010 7/30/2017 6 9 Water
47815-00 Gary Grantham 10/22/1954 2/7/2005 7/30/2017 12 6 Planning & Development
44146-00 Paul Breasly Jr. 9/9/1953 5/7/1997 7/16/2017 20 2 Technology & Innovation
44020-00 Nicholos Kelso 4/22/1954 12/16/1996 7/16/2017 20 7 Parks & Recreation
43172-00 Michael Gamble 5/9/1956 11/27/1995 7/30/2017 21 8 Parks & Recreation

DROP TO LONGEVITY
Employee Employee Date of Date DROP Exit
Number Name Birth Hired Date Yrs Mos Department
44017-00 Salvatore Vegeto 6/12/1952 12/16/1996 7/31/2017 15 7 Neighborhood Enhancement

DEFERRED RETIREMENTS
Employee Employee Date of Date Separation
Number Name Birth Hired Date Yrs Mos Department
38457-00 Benjamin Marcus 8/25/1963 1/8/1991 3/17/2009 17 10 Solid Waste
47262-00 Jaime Molina 8/12/1971 12/8/2003 5/21/2014 10 5 Technology & Innovation
31108-00 Daniel Gonzalez 7/12/1963 4/16/1984 6/16/2017 33 2 Parks & Recreation
49743-00 Christopher Campbell 9/19/1986 4/27/2009 7/7/2017 8 2 Waste Water

SPOUSE BENEFITS Date of
Number Spouse Decedent Death Division  
27959-01 Sharon Russell William Schafer 6/7/2017 A 75%

ESTATE PAYMENTS Date of
Number Beneficiary Decedent Death
02018-80 Ronald Moyer Mary Moyer 7/4/2017
02018-81 Donald Moyer Mary Moyer 7/4/2017
02018-82 Bonita Stewart Mary Moyer 7/4/2017
27959-80 Sharon Russell William Schafer 6/7/2017  
40338-80 Kimberly Peeples Brenda Pattersaul 7/19/2017

Creditable Service

Creditable Service

Creditable Service

City of Tampa 
General Employees' Retirement Fund

Retirement Benefits & Estate Payments
Consent Agenda
August 15, 2017

Creditable Service

Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 41 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 42 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 43 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 44 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 45 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 46 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 47 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 48 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 49 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 50 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 51 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 52 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 53 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 54 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 55 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 56 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 57 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 58 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 59 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 60 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 61 of 62



Board of Trustees Agenda Package - August 15, 2017 Page 62 of 62


	0717_ASAP_TampaERS.pdf
	ASAP
	Market Overview

	August 2017-Consent Agenda 2017.pdf
	Aug 2017

	August 2017-Consent Agenda 2017.pdf
	Aug 2017




